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PREFACE 
 

The City of Warrensburg, Missouri contracted with the firm Sally Schwenk Associates, Inc. 

Preservation Professionals (SSA), located in Kansas City, Missouri, to conduct a cultural resource 

survey in two phases over a twenty-four month period that provide for the identification and 

evaluation of historic properties for individual significance or as contributing properties to a historic 

district.  The Request for Proposals issued by the City identified the properties to be surveyed as 

located in the ñCentral Business District, the Original Old Town, Grover Street, and the areas 

surrounding the University of Central Missouri.ò  In addition, the survey information will contribute to 

future City and neighborhood planning activities.   

 

The phased effort at survey is part of a strategy to implement the development of a complete, fully 

documented, and comprehensive inventory of historic properties located in Warrensburg, Missouri, by 

conducting survey in accordance with National Register Bulletin 24: Guidelines for Local Survey: A 

Basis for Preservation Planning and National Register Bulletin 15: How to Apply the National 

Register Criteria for Evaluation.   

 

WARRENSBURG , M ISSOURI PHASE I  AND II  SURVEY AREAS  

 

 .. 
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The first phase of the survey included a combination of the Central Business District and the 

residential neighborhoods linking it with the Old Town area.  The survey area included 276 properties 

(containing 259 primary resources) generally bounded by North Main Street to the west, Marshall 

Street to the south, North College Avenue to the east, and West Gay Street on the north.  The survey 

included commercial, institutional, and residential resources.   

 

The Phase I Survey revealed a high concentration of historic residential resources not only within the 

Phase I Survey area, but also in adjacent neighborhoods.  Because the phased survey boundaries were 

arbitrarily restricted to meet budget parameters, the Phase I Survey did not evaluate all like resources 

in contiguous neighborhoods that enjoyed the same levels of historical integrity.  In some instances, 

there was no clear visual distinction separating resources adjacent to the survey area boundaries.  

These resources appeared to share the same time periods, patterns of development, and evolution of 

architectural styles, thus sharing important historic contexts.  In particular, this applied to the area in 

the boundaries of the Phase II survey area that incorporates Grover Street, and select pre-Post World 

War II areas of development in the vicinity of the University of Central Missouri.  Also of note, is the 

presence of African-American cultural and historic resources in the areas adjacent to the Phase I 

survey boundaries in the Old Town Area with similar resources and contexts identified in the 

development of historic contexts in the Phase I Old Town area.  

 

The second phase of survey covered the remaining residential resources in the Old Town and 

Downtown areas between North Street on the north and the railroad tracks on the south, the residential 

resources along Grover Street between Holden and Mitchell Streets, and the resources surrounding the 

University of Central Missouri between Zoll and Main Streets.  This phase also included a windshield 

and building-by-building field investigation of the post-World War II housing subdivisions that 

developed on previously platted land in the area southeast of the survey boundary and the area in Old 

Town to the northwest and north of the original survey area boundaries. This effort identified and 

documented six scattered historic resources outside the survey area boundary to the southeast (east of 

Zoll and south of Clark); these resources are located on Jefferson, Hamilton, and S. Mitchell Streets 

and Hurricane Hill. In the northwest and northern boundaries of the survey area, the investigation of 

resources to the north and west led to recommendations for future survey of the Old Town area, in 

particular, research into the African American settlement of this area and for the presence of an 

associated cultural landscape. 

 

 

WHAT IS A CULTURAL RESOURCE  SURVEY?   
 

The National Historic Preservation Act of 1966 committed federal agencies to a program of 

identification and protection of historic resources.  Amendments to the Act required all states to 



 

 

 

WARRENSBURG, MISSOURI CULTURAL RESOURCE  SURVEY REPORT  

Sally Schwenk Associates, Inc.  

- 4 - 
  

ñcompile and maintain a statewide survey and inventory of historic properties.ò  The law mandates 

that the survey process:  

 

¶ identify properties eligible for state and federal grants-in-aid programs; 

 

¶ aid federal, state, and local governments in carrying out their historic preservation duties; 

 

¶ identify, nominate, and protect eligible properties for listing in the National Register of 

Historic Places; 

 

¶ work with federal, state, and local agencies to ensure that historic properties are considered 

throughout planning and development projects; and 

 

¶ assist as an information, education, training, and technical source for federal, state, and local 

historic preservation programs. 

 

A cultural resource survey is a process of identifying and gathering information on a communityôs 

architectural, historical, and archaeological resources.  As applied to the identification and evaluation 

historic and architectural resources, the assessment of the significance of properties involved: 

 

¶ a field investigation to photograph, verify the location, and determine the architectural 

character, associated features, and historical integrity of each property; 

 

¶ a literature search and archival research to gather information concerning the survey areaôs 

historical contexts and associated functional and/or architectural property types; and  

 

¶ analysis of the survey data and historic contexts to determine which properties appear to have 

historical/architectural significance and to formulate management recommendations for future 

identification, evaluation, and protection strategies.  

 

Work products generated from the survey process include an individual property survey form 

produced from the electronic database for each surveyed property and a survey report.  The survey 

forms contain information specific to each property and should be viewed as part of the cityôs ongoing 

inventory of historic properties and as an appendices to the survey report.  The survey report is a 

general document that provides an understanding of the data on the survey form, the survey 

methodology, the historic contexts and property types that are associated with significant resources 

identified in the survey process, and management recommendations for future evaluation and 

protection of significant resources identified in the survey area.  Thus, together, the survey forms and 

the survey report provide property-specific data as well as broad-based contextual analysis. 

 

The information yielded in a cultural resource survey is important because it:  
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¶ identifies properties that contribute to the cityôs character, illustrate its historical and 

architectural development and, as a result, deserve consideration in planning; 

 

¶ identifies properties or areas whose study and research may provide information about the 

communityôs past and contribute to scholarship and understanding about the cityôs historic 

contexts of growth and development; 

 

¶ assists in establishing priorities for future survey, conservation, restoration, and rehabilitation 

efforts within the city; 

 

¶ provides the basis for using legal and financial tools to recognize and protect historic 

resources; 

 

¶ provides planners with a property database and computer generated mapping to utilize for the 

establishment of preservation planning efforts;  

 

¶ increases awareness in the public and private sectors on the need for preservation efforts; and  

 

¶ provides guidance toward developing a comprehensive preservation plan, enabling local 

governments and federal agencies to meet their planning and review responsibilities under 

existing federal legislation and procedures. 
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EDITORIAL METHOD  
 

 

This technical report is a public document that records the results of a cultural resource survey.  The 

survey activities and subsequent report of those activities follows the guidelines of the Department of 

the Interior, National Park Service.  As recommended by that agency, the report follows the editorial 

guidelines of the most current edition of The Chicago Manual of Style.  Some modifications in 

punctuation occur that are based on archaeological writing style guidelines adapted to historic 

preservation methodology and practices.  As a technical report documenting the results of a cultural 

resource survey, and in accordance with the guidelines published in National Register Bulleting 24: 

Guidelines for Local Surveys: A Basis for Preservation Planning, it involves the development of 

historical contexts of the past, identification and evaluation of existing cultural resources, assessment 

of the present condition of historic functional and architectural property types, and formulation of 

future management recommendations.  As a result, the technical nature of the report and temporal 

subject matter involve referencing the past, present and future and, as recommended by the National 

Park Service, utilization of active voice in the use of the primary verb(s).  Where appropriate in the 

general text, capitalization and punctuation have been modernized. 
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INTRODUCTION  
 

CAPITALIZING ON WARR ENSBURGôS HISTORIC ASSETS 
 

The historic development of Warrensburg is a unique and important story.  It defines the culture of 

the community and the tangible reminders of this past create a unique ñsense of place.ò  The story of 

Warrensburg is intrinsically entwined with the story of the development of the United States, of the 

region, and of Johnson County, Missouri ð an evolution of over two hundred years of ethnic and 

cultural amalgamation.  The story of Warrensburg is likewise a story of diversity, both in the built and 

natural environment, as well as in cultural heritage. 

 

The physical impact of an expanding university campus, the need for student housing, post-World 

War II development, and more recent commercial development already obscures significant tangible 

reminders of Warrensburgôs beginnings and early development.  Less obvious is the random loss of 

buildings, structures, and sites that have associations to the county seat, college town, and railroad 

market center that developed in the late nineteenth and early twentieth century.  The loss of elements 

that historically defined the core of the community significantly impacts the Cityôs identity ð its 

unique attributes that distinguishes it from other communities in the region.   

 

Warrensburg will continue to change, and change provides the opportunity to strengthen and enrich 

the Cityôs visual character and to enhance the quality of life already appreciated by many residents 

and visitors.  The goal of this survey effort is to initiate identification and evaluation of historic 

resources as part of an ongoing effort to develop strategies to protect significant resources and 

enhance their setting as well as to move toward change in a positive manner ð as a catalyst for 

capitalizing on the synergy of the old and new.  To achieve this goal, it is necessary first to recognize 

and understand the existing assets that contribute to the Cityôs unique physical and cultural character; 

to then forge a consensus in the community regarding their preservation; and to develop goals, 

policies, and initiatives to assist the City in the future identification, interpretation, evaluation, and 

protection of its remaining cultural resources. 

 

BENEFITS OF PRESERVATION  

 

Preservation has its own intrinsic value in celebrating a communityôs history.  As noted by the former 

dean of the Tulane School of Architecture, John W. Lawrence, it enables the citizens of today and 

tomorrow ñ. . .to understand the present as a product of the past and a modifier of the future.ò  It 

allows a greater awareness of the relationships of the past, the present, and the future ð a deeper 

understanding of the continuity and contrasts of life.  
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An additional compelling argument for protecting historic resources is simply that people like them.  

People seek out historic settings because they offer quality craftsmanship and materials, create 

variety, and encourage human interaction in a familiar context.  Moreover, preservation has proven 

utilitarian value as a tool for economic development and environmental stewardship. 

 

EXAMPLES OF THE BENEFITS OF HISTORIC PRESERVATION  
 

V The physical appearance of its buildings and streetscapes reflects the communityôs overall vitality and 
economic health.  

 

V Maintaining the vitality of the cityôs older commercial and residential areas, including rehabilitating older 

buildings and designing quality new buildings, can attract larger commercial ventures to the community, 

even if these ventures do not locate in the historic core of the city. 

 

V Rehabilitation of individual buildings is more attainable and stabilizing to a local economy than a single 

large economic development project.  

 

V Cultural resources most clearly reflect a community and regionôs evolution, history, diversity, and 

differentiation from other areas.  Rehabilitating older buildings and sites distinguishes one community from 

another by preserving the unique character of each. 

 

V The value of a property is determined by the buildings, public improvements, and activities around it.  

Rehabilitation of a historic property directly benefits adjacent property owners and nearby businesses. 

 

V The value of rehabilitated properties in a cityôs historic core increases more rapidly than the real estate 
market in the larger community. 

 

V Older buildings with easy access to professional and support services are ideal for many smaller and start-

up businesses, which typically generate a majority of new permanent jobs.  

 

 

Economic Benefits 

 

Nationally known real estate professional Donovan D. Rypkema, in his book The Economics of 

Historic Preservation, observes that a commitment to preservation may be one of the most effective   

acts   of   fiscal   responsibility   governmental   entities   can   undertake.  Older neighborhoods and 

commercial centers represent a considerable taxpayer investment in infrastructure and building stock.  

Conservation of buildings, neighborhoods, and sites of historic and aesthetic value is one of the best 

tools for recovering the worth of past investments while fueling new economic activity.   

 

The most successful revitalization efforts in the country utilize historic rehabilitation as the core of 

their revitalization strategies.  These efforts document that the most successful approach to create 

sustainable communities merges the old and the new.  The creative combination of preservation, 

adaptive reuse, and new construction capitalizes on the aesthetics and craftsmanship of other eras, 



 

 

 

WARRENSBURG, MISSOURI CULTURAL RESOURCE  SURVEY REPORT  

Sally Schwenk Associates, Inc.  

- 9 - 
  

provides opportunities for architectural innovation, and promotes problem-solving, thereby enhancing 

the communityôs character and fabric.   

 

The State of Missouri and the federal government recognize the role rehabilitation of historic 

buildings can play in strengthening the local economy.  To encourage sustainable neighborhoods and 

communities as well as to encourage preservation of important cultural resources, they provide 

incentives to encourage rehabilitation of historic buildings.  Investment tax credits for rehabilitation 

of historic buildings are available from both the state and federal governments.  Eligible properties 

must be listed in the National Register of Historic Places.   

 

The 20 percent Federal Rehabilitation Tax Credit applies to owners and some renters of income-

producing National Register listed properties.  The law also permits depreciation of such 

improvements over 27.5 years for a rental residential property and over 31.5 years for a nonresidential 

property.  The rehabilitated building must be subject to depreciation.  Federal rehabilitation tax 

credits can be ñsoldò to an equity partner in return for investment of capital in the rehabilitation 

project.  

 

All residential and commercial properties (income-producing and owner-occupied) listed in the 

National Register of Historic Places are eligible for a 25 percent state tax credit.  When used 

together, the federal and state tax credits can capture approximately 38 percent
1
 of eligible 

rehabilitation costs in tax credits. 
 

In exchange for the tax credits, the rehabilitation work must comply with the Secretary of the 

Interiorôs Standards for Rehabilitation.  The Secretaryôs Standards are designed to address changes 

that will allow older buildings to function in the twenty-first century.  The common sense guidelines 

provide for new construction as well as rehabilitation.  
 

Environmental Stewardship 
 

Using preservation as a tool for conservation of resources provides a rational and effective economic 

and environmental strategy for the future.  There is growing consensus in support of environmental 

conservation efforts.  After years of exploitation of resources, people are now beginning to consider 

how their surroundings fit into the larger environment.  This includes the recognition of the important 

embodied energy contained in built resources and efforts to encourage better stewardship of older 

buildings and structures.  Buildings contain energy that has already been expended, materials that 

have been mined or harvested, manufactured, shipped, and assembled.  Material from demolished 

buildings accounts for up to 40 percent of landfill materials, the cost of which is indirectly borne by 

taxpayers.  At the same time, new construction consumes new energy and resources.  

                                                           
1
 State tax credits are taxable income under IRS regulations. The net benefit of combining the tax credits is 

usually between 36 and 40 percent.   
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METHODOLOGY  
 

Sally Schwenk Associates, Inc. completed Phase I of this survey in conformance with the procedures 

for reconnaissance-level survey outlined in National Register Bulletin 24: Guidelines for Local 

Survey: A Basis for Preservation Planning.  Evaluation of resources for significance was in 

accordance with National Register Bulletin 15: How to Apply the National Register Criteria for 

Evaluation.  In addition to these guidelines, the consultants relied on criteria of the Missouri 

Department of Natural Resources Historic Preservation Programôs ñMinimal Guidelines for 

Professional Surveys of Historic Propertiesò and the ñMissouri Historic Property Inventory Form 

Instructions.ò 

 
The survey of cultural resources in the historic Downtown and Old Town areas of Warrensburg is the 

first cultural resource survey effort initiated in the community in the last two decades and is an effort 

to initiate a comprehensive and ongoing program of identification and evaluation of historic and 

cultural resources within the City of Warrensburg.   

 

The Phase I and II survey area boundaries were determined in consultation with City Planning staff 

based on funding and timing parameters and the scope of work for these phases included the 

following: 

 

¶ Review of all previous surveys and National Register listings within the City of Warrensburg; 

 

¶ Review and update of the previous, selective survey performed by the Show-Me Regional 

Planning Commission in the 1980s; 

 

¶ A building-by-building field investigation of the designated survey areas to photograph and 

document principal and ancillary buildings and their materials and levels of 

historic/architectural integrity as to location, setting, design, materials, feelings of period of 

construction, and associations with the history of the community;  

 

¶ Creation of a database containing the results of the field survey in data fields and information 

categories that are compatible and in accordance with the Missouri State Historic 

Preservation Officeôs Minimum Guidelines for Professional Surveys of Historic Properties 

and that will allow data to be displayed and printed in the Missouri State Historic 

Preservation Officeôs historic property inventory form format.  Database information can also 

be utilized to create reports and assist in data analysis and mapping;  

 

¶ Creation of maps to document patterns of architectural styles, functional property types 

and/or vernacular designs, levels of integrity; periods of construction; and other 

historic/cultural characteristics to assist in the development of historic contexts, as well as to 

provide mapping of survey results to assist in management recommendations for protection 

of historic resources through nomination to the National Register of Historic Places;  
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¶ Defining functional and architectural property types and evaluating resources for eligibility 

for listing in the National Register of Historic Places; 

 

¶ Developing historic contexts relating to the history and development of Warrensburg to assist 

in the evaluation of historic properties for National Register eligibility as well as the future 

preparation of National Register nominations; and 

 

¶ Preliminary identification of all historically and/or architecturally significant sites, objects, 

cultural landscapes, buildings, structures, or districts within the defined survey area. 

 

¶ Preliminary identification of each resourceôs architectural style or vernacular property type, 
period of construction and significance, architect/builder, and construction materials, if 

known. 

 

¶ Evaluation and determination of properties and districts that appear to be potentially eligible 

for listing in the National Register of Historic Places.  

 

¶ Developing management recommendations for preservation of cultural and historic resources 

and for future National Register activities.  

 

 

FIELD SURVEY  

 
Kerry Davis, architectural historian, completed field survey of the Phase I project area in June 2007 

and the Phase II project area in January and February 2008.  The field survey component included 

conducting a field inspection and taking photographs of each building, site, and object in the survey 

area to document building form and materials.  The consultants relied on this information in 

determining the architectural style or vernacular property type and historic architectural integrity for 

each property.  

 

ADDRESS/MAPPING ISSUES 

 

The property-by-property survey revealed a high number of address/parcel issues.  These stem, in 

large part, from address/parcel information recorded in the Johnson County database, where duplicate 

addresses are given for the same parcel number, where the same address is given to two different 

parcel numbers, or where directional data is not given, thereby interfering with accurate links to the 

GIS mapping.  Kerry Davis worked with City staff, as well as with the City's mapping contractor, 

BWR Corporation, to reconcile as many of these irregularities as possible.  However, at project 

completion, 122 parcel issues remain to be corrected. 

 

Davis adjusted the survey reportôs digital map manually to reflect the actual resource eligibility.  

However, it should be noted that the final survey database reflects the parcel/addresses provided by 
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the County and future mapping will reflect the same errors.  Those parcels which need to be 

reconciled are listed in this survey reportôs appendices. 

 

ARCHIVAL RESEARCH  

 
In addition to the documentation of architectural styles, property types, and evolution of land use, 

research focused on the preparation of historical contexts for the time period in which the survey area 

developed, and the identification of dates of construction.  Sally Schwenk Associates, Inc., staff used 

the archival, research, and records collections of the Johnson County, Missouri Historical Society, the 

Missouri State Historic Preservation Office, the Kansas City (Missouri) Public Library Sanborn Fire 

Insurance Company maps, the Mid-Continent Public Library (Independence, Missouri), and the City 

of Warrensburg. 

 

ESTABLISHING DATES OF CONSTRUCTION  
 

Due to the absence of extant building and/or water permits, SSA staff used plat maps, local history 

publications, vertical files, previous cultural resource survey information, Sanborn Fire Insurance 

Company maps, telephone directory indexes, and architectural style to establish a construction date 

range.  During data analysis, SSA staff compared data from different sources and assigned an actual 

or an estimated date of construction.  When exterior appearance did not correspond with previous 

survey dates or when there was no information documenting the date of construction, the SSA 

estimated a date based on the known date of construction of other buildings with similar architectural 

treatments in the survey area.  As a result, many dates of construction are not exact, but are estimated 

to a circa (c.) date, which generally denotes the age to be five years before or after the year listed.  
 

OWNER HISTORY AND ARCHITECT /BUILDERS  
 

Although not required in reconnaissance survey, when research yielded information about the original 

owners, this was included in the ñHistoryò section of the survey form. 

 

COMPILATION AND ANAL YSIS OF DATA 

 
Sally Schwenk Associates, Inc. used a Microsoft Access database to compile the survey information 

based upon the information required by the Missouri Historic Resources Survey Form.  This included 

data fields for each buildingôs historic and current functional use, physical features (e.g., plan, 

principal materials, style and/or vernacular property type, roof type, and condition); architect and/or 

builder, if known; estimated or documented date of construction; presence of historic outbuildings; 

source(s) of historic information; and notes about the history of the property.  In addition to these 

fields, the database includes fields for parcel identification numbers; historic architectural integrity 

assessments of eligibility as an individual resource or as a contributing resource to a potential district; 
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and additional information that aid in the analysis of the property.  When linked with the digital 

records of future surveys, this database will enhance the understanding of historic resources in 

Warrensburg.  This information can also be linked to geographic information systems and mapping 

software to create visual presentations of the data. 

 

The consultants analyzed four categories of data to identify contiguous districts, discontinuous 

thematic resources, and individual properties that are potentially eligible for National Register listing.  

The following four categories address issues important in determining the significance of a property 

or properties for listing in the National Register.   

 

¶ Architectural Integrity 

¶ Date of Construction 

¶ Original Building Use/Function 

¶ Architectural Style/Vernacular Property Type 

  

A detailed description of the four areas of analysis and results appears in the ñSurvey Resultsò section 

of this report.  

 

HISTORICAL AND ARCHI TECTURAL ANALYSIS  

 
After compiling and reviewing the results of the field survey and completing the archival research, 

SSA identified broad patterns of development in Warrensburg and in the neighborhoods in the survey 

area.  At the same time, work on developing architectural contexts began with the review of 

photographic documentation and database information relating to the survey area.  A Field Guide to 

American Houses by Lee and Virginia McAlester provided guidelines for determining residential 

architectural forms, styles, and sub-types as well as assuring the use of nomenclature consistent with 

National Register guidelines.  The Buildings of Main Street by Richard Longstreth provided 

guidelines for nomenclature and determining commercial architectural forms, styles, and sub-types.  

Review of the survey data not only revealed the architectural styles and vernacular property types and 

forms, it also provided information to begin to determine development patterns and building 

chronology. 

 

In order to provide management recommendations, the consultants conducted preliminary evaluations 

for all inventoried properties according to the criteria and standards for historic resources established 

by the Secretary of the Interior.  This included a preliminary assessment of individual eligibility for 

listing in the National Register of Historic Places and as potentially contributing elements in a 

National Register District.  The recommendations herein apply to both the Phase I and Phase II 

project areas and are addressed in the final mapping and analysis holistically.   
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In addition to retaining the integrity of their historic architectural design, properties listed in the 

National Register of Historic Places must meet certain criteria of historic significance.  Historic 

significance is the importance of a property to the history, architecture, archaeology, engineering, or 

culture of a community, a state, or the nation.  To be listed, properties must have significance in at 

least one of the following areas. 

 

¶ Criterion A: Association with events, activities, or broad patterns of history. 

 

¶ Criterion B: Association with the lives of persons significant in our past. 

 

¶ Criterion C: Embody distinctive characteristics of construction, or represent the work of a 

master, or possess high artistic values; or represent a significant and 

distinguishable entity whose components may lack individual distinction. 

 

¶ Criterion D: Have yielded, or be likely to yield information important in prehistory or history. 

 

ARCHITECTURAL INTEGRITY  

 
All properties eligible for listing in the National Register of Historic Places whether for individual 

significance or as contributing
2
 elements to a district, must retain sufficient historic architectural 

integrity to convey the period of time in which they are significant.
3
  The National Park Service uses 

the following areas to define integrity. 

 

¶ Location  

¶ Design               

¶ Setting 

¶ Materials  

¶ Workmanship    

¶ Feeling  

¶ Association      

  

The consultants visually inspected the exterior of each of the buildings in the survey area.  Each 

building received an integrity rating of Excellent, Good, Poor+, TBD, or Poor based primarily on how 

                                                           
2
 A contributing property to a historic district does not have to meet the threshold for individual significance, 

but it must contribute to the districtôs area of significance.  Properties contributing to a districtôs significance for 

architecture must retain a higher degree of architectural integrity than in a district significant for associations 

with an important individual or with historical events or patterns of history. 
3
  Historic architectural integrity should not be confused with the physical condition of a building or structure.  

A building may be in excellent physical and structural condition, but may have lost its historical character-

defining elements.  Conversely, a building may retain all of its historical architectural features, but may be 

structurally unsound and, therefore, in poor condition. 
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much of the buildingôs original design, workmanship, exterior materials, and overall feeling of a past 

period of time remain.  The following criteria served as the basis for rating historic architectural 

integrity.   

 

Excellent 

 

¶ The majority of the buildingsô openings are unaltered or are altered in a sensitive and appropriate 

manner, using similar materials, profiles, and sizes as the original building elements; 

 

¶ The exterior cladding material had not been altered; 

 

¶ Significant decorative elements are intact; 

 

¶ Design elements intrinsic to the buildingôs style are intact; 

 

¶ The overall feeling or character of the building for the time period in which it was erected is 

intact.  Changes over a period of time are sympathetic and compatible to the original design in 

color, size, scale, massing, and materials; 

 

¶ Character-defining elements from the time period in which the building had significant 

associations with events or important individuals remain intact; and 

 

¶ If over fifty years in age, the building is individually eligible for listing in the National Register of 

Historic Places or would be a contributing element to a historic district. 

 

Good 

 

¶ Some alteration of original building openings or spaces has occurred using new materials and 

profiles, but not causing irreversible damage to the original configuration of openings and spaces; 

 

¶ Significant portions of original exterior cladding material remain or if the historic exterior 

building material is covered by non-historic material (such as modern siding), the significant 

form, features and detailing of the building are not obscured.ò   

 

¶ Significant decorative elements remain intact; 

 

¶ Alterations to the building are reversible and the historic character of the property could be easily 

restored; 

 

¶ Additions to a secondary elevation are in an appropriate manner, respecting the materials, scale, 

and character of the original building design; 

 

¶ The historic feeling or character of the building is weakened by change or lack of maintenance; 

and 
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¶ The building would be a contributing element to a historic district and/or it might be individually 

eligible for listing in the National Register if restored in conformance with the Secretary of the 

Interiorôs Standards for Rehabilitation.  

 

Poor+ (Residential Properties With Non-Original Exterior Cladding)  

 

Because a significant number of properties in the survey area had secondary siding or wall materials 

that appear to be obscuring historic materials, character defining features and/or trim, an integrity 

classification of Poor+ denotes these properties.  In cases where the significant features and detailing 

are obscured, the ñPoor+ò integrity rating indicates the building might be upgraded to contributing 

status (and therefore qualify for rehabilitation tax credits) if the non-historic material is removed and 

original materials, architectural features, and trim remain intact.   

 

¶ The majority of the buildingôs openings are unaltered or are altered in a sensitive and appropriate 
manner, using similar materials, profiles, and sizes as the original building elements; 

 

¶ Design elements intrinsic to the buildingôs style or property type are intact; 

 

¶ Significant decorative elements are intact; 

 

¶ With the exception of wall cladding, the overall feeling or character of the building for the time 

period in which it was erected is intact.  Changes over a period of time are sympathetic and 

compatible to the original design in size, scale, massing, and materials; and 

 

¶ Additions to a secondary elevation are in an appropriate manner, respecting the materials, scale, 

and character of the original building design. 

 

Identification and mapping of these Poor+ properties, especially within the context of the historic 

integrity of adjacent properties, will assist property owners, City planning staff, and state preservation 

staff in identifying potential National Register eligibility, developing funding, and targeting future 

evaluation and protection programs to include properties that have the potential to contribute to 

historic districts and that merit preservation. 

 

Poor 

 

¶ The majority of the buildingôs openings, such as windows and doors, were altered in an 

inappropriate manner using new materials, profiles, and sizes; 

 

¶ Exterior materials were altered; 

 

¶ Alterations are irreversible or would be extremely difficult, costly, and possibly physically 

damaging to the building to reverse; 

 

¶ Later additions do not respect the materials, scale, or character of the original building design; 
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¶ The overall historic feeling and character of the building is significantly compromised; and 

 

¶ Further investigations after removal of non-historic materials and alterations may reveal that the 

structure retains greater architectural integrity than originally apparent and should be reevaluated.  

 

TBD (To Be Determined) 

 

¶ The building appears to have sufficient integrity, but requires more in-depth research as to its 

historic associations in order to determine integrity thresholds.   

 

 

NATIONAL REGISTER ELIGIBILITY STATUS 

 
The physical characteristics and historic significance of the overall property provide the basis for 

evaluating component resources.  Related information about each resource, such as date of 

construction, function, associations, and physical characteristics apply to the significance of the 

overall property.   

 

Sally Schwenk Associates, Inc. analyzed data relating to the historic architectural integrity and 

historic significance of each property within the survey area to begin to identify contiguous districts, 

discontinuous thematic resources, and individual properties that appear to minimally meet National 

Register criteria.  The evaluation utilized the following categories to assist in formulating the 

management recommendations emanating from survey. 

 

¶ Not Eligible applies to those properties that are not individually eligible and are not within a 

potential district due to lack of historic/architectural integrity or because they do not clearly 

represent associations with established historic context(s). 

 

¶ Individually Eligible  applies to those properties that retain a high degree of historic architectural 

integrity and clearly represent associations with established historic context(s).  

 

¶ Contributing to a District applies to a property that possesses historic integrity and is located 

adjacent to or near other similar properties that share the same historic context(s).  Because of 

their historical/architectural integrity, these properties have the potential to add to the historic 

associations and historic architectural qualities for which a streetscape, neighborhood, or area is 

significant because it was present during the streetscape, neighborhood, or areaôs period of 

significance and relates to its documented significance.  A National Register District possesses a 

significant concentration, linkage, and/or continuity of sites, buildings, structures, or objects that 

are united historically or aesthetically by plan or physical development.  Contributing properties 

do not have to be individually distinctive, but must contribute to a grouping that achieves 

significance as a whole within one or more historic contexts.  The majority of the components 

that add to a districtôs historic character, even if they are individually undistinguished, must 

possess integrity, as must the district as a whole.  A property that independently meets National 
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Register Criteria can be considered as a contributing property to a district if it has associations 

with the districtôs areas of significance. 

 

¶ Non-contributing to a District  applies to properties located within a potential historic district 

but that no longer possess historical architectural integrity due to alterations, disturbances, 

additions, or other changes that render them incapable of yielding important information about a 

period of significance; or do not independently meet the National Register criteria.   

 

¶ Less Than Fifty Years of Age applies to properties that are less than fifty years in age.  The 

National Register Criteria exclude properties that achieved significance within the last fifty years 

unless they are of exceptional importance.  Fifty years is a general estimate of the time needed to 

develop historical perspective and to evaluate significance.  

 

¶ TBD (To Be Determined) applies to properties that require more in-depth research as to their 

historic associations and potential historic significance to accurately ascertain their potential 

eligibility.   

 

  



 

 

 

WARRENSBURG, MISSOURI CULTURAL RESOURCE  SURVEY REPORT  

Sally Schwenk Associates, Inc.  

- 19 - 
  

HISTORIC CONTEXTS  
 

To fully understand the findings of the Survey, it is important to interpret the survey information in 

context with the development of the neighborhoods within the survey area and in relationship with the 

forces that influenced the development of the City of Warrensburg in general, as well as the 

development trends that occurred regionally, within the state, and nationally.  The National Park 

Service defines historic context as ña broad pattern of historical development in a community or its 

region that may be represented by historic resources.ò  Inherent in the development of a historic 

context is the identification of important connections between local, regional, state, and national 

history and the historic resources in a defined sub-area such as Downtown and Old Town in 

Warrensburg.  When survey findings are viewed in relationship to this information, it is possible to 

apply the criteria for evaluating eligibility for designation to the national, state, and local historic 

registers.  Moreover, an understanding of how historical change affected the community is extremely 

useful in evaluating community resources that might be threatened and in integrating protective 

strategies in planning efforts.   

 

Historic contexts developed as part of a survey should not be confused with a comprehensive history 

of the community.  The survey report is a technical report and development of historical contexts is 

one component that assists in providing technical analysis of the resources identified.  Generally, 

establishing historic contexts involves reviewing the known history of the community, the region, and 

the state and seeking to define important patterns in the development of the area through time that 

may be represented by historic properties within the community and, specifically, within the survey 

area.  The level of documentation depends on whether the survey is conducted at a reconnaissance 

level or an intensive level and the size of the survey area in relation to the community as a whole.  

 

The establishment of historic contexts in a reconnaissance-level survey, as in this survey effort, is a 

base step in targeting the survey effort and in determining recommendations for future identification 

and evaluation effectively.  It also directs the efficient use of personnel.  For example, the presence of 

academically trained architects in Missouri in the late nineteenth century or the identification of 

individual owners of commercial businesses may not be as relevant to the patterns of development of 

Warrensburgôs built environment as the location of the railroad depot and growth of the college.  The 

resulting information relating to this context is far from definitive, but it establishes areas of obvious 

importance in relation to National Register criteria and allows specific management recommendations 

for future identification, evaluation, and designation of cultural resources. 

 

The following narrative overview establishes historic contexts for defined chronological eras.  Within 

these time periods, it identifies important development patterns, including geographic limits, 

historical themes, and the evolution of architectural styles and property types.  Specific data from the 

survey is related to the contextual information in the ñSurvey Resultsò and ñManagement 
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Recommendationsò chapters of this Final Cultural Resource Survey report.  Because of the survey 

areaôs geographical boundaries and its period of development, the survey does not fully address many 

of the established historical contexts for Warrensburg in general, particularly the historical 

development patterns associated with evolution from the State Normal School, District 2 to the 

University of Central Missouri.
4
  

 

 

LOCATION AND ENVIRON MENT  

 

The City of Warrensburg, Missouri is 

located in Northwestern Missouri a little 

west of the geographical center of Johnson 

County, Missouri on a hilly site near the 

Blackwater fork of the La Mine River.  The 

downtown commercial center is 

approximately two hundred miles due west 

of St. Louis and sixty-five miles southeast of 

Kansas City.  The area contains loess hills 

characterized by rolling uplands, rough land 

near major streams, and deep loess soils.  

The city is located in part of the Stateôs 

Osage Plains that contain an underlying 

Pennsylvania sedimentary rock stratum.  

Because of differential erosion of resistant 

sandstone and limestone and weaker shale, 

the cuestaform topography of the Osage 

Plains features ridges formed by gently tilted 

hard rock layers and steep slopes where the 

edges of rock layers are exposed.   

 

Located in the alluvial valleys of the 

Missouri River where wells produce an 

abundant yield of deep spring-fed water, ground water constitutes one of the important natural 

                                                           

4
 Established in 1871 as State Normal School, District #2, the collegeôs name changed in 1919 to Central 

Missouri State Teachers College.  In 1946, it became Central Missouri State College.  In 1965, the institution 

established a graduate school and, in 1971, the name changed to Central Missouri State University.  In 2006, the 

institutionôs name changed to the University of Central Missouri.  

 

 
1876 Map of Johnson County Missouri 

Township & R ail Road Map of Missouri, 1876 
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resources that affected the nineteenth century agrarian economy of an area.  Groundwater sources, 

aside from springs and mines, are either shallow or deep wells.  Springs with a year-round flow, such 

as those found near Warrensburg, were outlets for subterranean streams intesected by surface streams.  

This interconnection produced caves in various stages of formation.   

 

The area was, at the time of its first occupation by Euro-Americans, Tall Grass Prairie with bottom 

land hardwood vegetation.  As agriculture became more intensive, most of the prairie land, consisting 

of bluestem and other tall grasses, disappeared.  These areas subsequently produced abundant yields 

of corn, soybeans, wheat, and grain sorghums, as well as pasturage for beef and dairy cattle. 

 

 

DEVELOPMENT OF  WARRENSBURG, MISSOURI  

 

EARLY SETTLEMENT PER IOD: 1830-1860 

 

When European explorers arrived in what is now Western Missouri in the eighteenth and early 

nineteenth centuries, they encountered several native tribes including the Osage, the Kansa (also 

referred to as the Kansas and the Kanza), the Missouri, and the Oto (Otoe) nations.  The Osage, who 

lived in Missouri from the 1500s to 1825, were the most powerful and dominant tribe in the area 

south of the Missouri River in Western and Central Missouri.  Their traditional lands ï those on 

which they trapped, traded, planted and ranged ï also included Eastern Kansas, Northern Arkansas, 

and Northeastern Oklahoma.  Their traditional hunting grounds included what is present-day Johnson 

County, Missouri.   

 

Following the Louisiana Purchase in 1803, the Osage ceded their lands south of the Missouri River 

and east of a line running south from Fort Osage in Jackson County, Missouri, to the United States 

Government in the Osage-American treaty of 1808.  In 1825, the Osage relinquished all the remaining 

claims in Missouri.  

 

Beginning in the early 1800s, the Mississippi and Missouri Rivers served as natural trade arteries for 

Euro-Americans, as they earlier had for native peoples.  These river trails were preferable to the 

existing overland routes and dominated movement through and around Missouri.  Beginning in 1813, 

the fur trading company of John J. Astor extended its fur trading empire into the Rocky Mountain 

region, establishing the Missouri River (because of its geographical connection with Nebraskaôs 

Platte Valley) as the most natural route to the West.  Although trappers, explorers, traders, and a few 

settlers penetrated the interior from navigable streams, they did not record the characteristics of the 

land. 
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In the early 1820s, the scarcity of specie (gold and silver) and sound paper currency in the region 

reduced the local economy in Western Missouri to little more than a barter system.  Consequently, 

William Becknellôs return to Franklin, Missouri,
5
 from Santa Fe, New Mexico, with ten thousand 

silver dollars ushered in a new era as entrepreneurs assembled trade caravans to go to the Southwest.  

The onset of the lucrative Santa Fe trade and the introduction of the steamboat traffic on the Missouri 

River pushed the western terminus of the nation upstream from Franklin, Missouri, to Jackson 

County.  At the same time, the St. Louis fur companies expanded their domain further west and north 

on the Missouri River.  Thus, the Santa Fe and Rocky Mountain traders simultaneously began to 

blaze the trails of the coming westward expansion into the Southwest and the Northwest.  

 

At this time, thousands of immigrants poured into St. Louis and many pushed westward to Franklin.  

A few followed the Osage trace further west to Fort Osage,
6
 the military and fur trading post 

established in 1808.  Vacated during the War of 1812, the fort had a skeleton military crew until it 

closed in 1821.  Although Fort Osage was beyond the settlement line, Scotch-Irish settlers from the 

Upper South, established farms on land near the fort.  Avoiding the prairie areas, they chose the 

heavily timbered creek beds that were similar to the terrain they had known in the Middle South. 

 

Settlement of Johnson County and Warrensburg. 

 

In 1833, just six years after the first permanent American settlement in the area, Martin Warren, a 

native of Kentucky, set up a blacksmith business at the northeast corner of present day College 

Avenue and East Gay Street and erected a log residence.  First known as ñWarrenôs Corner,ò the 

cross-road location ultimately became known as ñWarrenôs Burg.ò
7
  

 

In 1834, the Missouri Legislature authorized the organization of Johnson County, naming it for 

Colonel Richard M. Johnson of Kentucky, who shortly thereafter became the Vice President of the 

United States (1837-1841).  In addition to directing the establishment of a courthouse, ferries, roads 

and bridges, the Johnson County Court,
8
 at its first regular meeting, considered a petition to establish 

a public school.  After the schoolôs formal organization in 1834, the residents again petitioned the 

court to form a school district.  The court established the school and a school district, but the lack of 

public funds precluded public funding and, instead, the school began as a private subscription school.
9
  

In 1836, the community gained a post office.  

                                                           
5
 Franklin, Missouri is located in Howard County. 

6
 Located on the Missouri River near present day Sibley, Missouri, in Jackson County.  

7
 Lucille D. Gress, An Informal History of Black Families of the Warrensburg, Missouri Area. (Warrensburg, 

MO: The Mid-America Press Inc., 1997) 78-79. 
8
 In Missouri, as in some other states, the county court was and is an administrative body consisting of elected 

officials called judges. Circuit courts with appointed judges had jurisdiction over legal matters and trying cases. 
9
 Perry McCandless, The History of Missouri Volume II 1820 to 1860.  (Columbia: University of Missouri 

Press, 1972), 195-196.   Missouri legislation did not forbid the education of slaves until the late 
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The area was ideal for settlement.  The large number of springs furnished ample sources of pure water 

and the prairie provided grazing for livestock.  Although the tough virgin prairie initially presented a 

problem for the settlers, the fertile soil provided the necessary conditions for raising grain crops.  

 

In 1836, three county commissioners, one of whom was Daniel Morgan Boone, son of Daniel Boone, 

selected the site of the county courthouse and named the town for Martin Warren.  The selection of 

Warrensburg as the county seat was significant.  The most important unit in local government in 

Missouri at that time was the county, a political and governmental system that reflected the principle 

of local self-government that became strongly entrenched in the State.   In rural areas such as Johnson 

County, Missouri, it served from the mid-nineteenth century through the mid-twentieth century as the 

most important governmental unit, administrating state, as well as local governmental programs and 

later, federal programs managed at the county level.  The status of county seat secured for 

Warrensburg an important economic, social and governmental status in the region. 

 

The court accepted plans for a courthouse and appointed a contractor.  Originally, the plans called for 

a 44-by-36-foot, two-story, brick building, with three doors; a later modification resulted in a 36-foot 

square building with a courtroom on the first floor and a second story for offices.  The lack of funds 

prevented the construction of a cupola featured in the original design.  After a prolonged construction 

period, the court formally accepted the building on July 28, 1842. 

 

Missouriôs communities, like those from the nationôs first settlements, followed the European 

tradition of providing proper spaces and choosing special sites for both public and private buildings.  

During the early settlement period in Missouri, a townôs main street usually faced the river and 

contained the major commercial buildings.  Inland communities utilized a town platted around a 

central public square.  After the arrival of the railroad, three distinct types of town plans emerged - 

those oriented to river traffic, those with a public square, and those with a central main street 

accessing the railroad depot. 

 

George Tibbs, the newly appointed county engineer, began surveying the Johnson County seat in 

1836 and submitted the plat for ñOld Town Warrensburgò for recordation on May 23, 1837.
10

  The 

plat featured the county courthouse
11

 in a central public square that measured 302 feet on either side.  

The plan featured streets that were sixty-six feet in width, alleys that were fourteen feet in width, and 

144-by-72-foot lots.
12

  Hall L. Wilkerson filed the first addition to the town plat in 1837.   

 

                                                                                                                                                                                    

1840s. However, by tradition, both slaves and free blacks were denied any regular public-supported educational 

opportunities in Missouri.   
10

 Gress, 78-79. 
11

 The original courthouse was the site of Senator George Graham Vestôs famous "Tribute to a Dog" which he 

used as his closing argument in Burden vs. Hornsby. 
12

 The History of Johnson County, Missouri. (Kansas City, MO.: Kansas City Historical Company, 1881), 390.  

http://www.warrensburg.org/drum.htm
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Among the early businesses was the general store opened in 1836 by John Evans in the valley east of 

the future site of the public square.  W. H. Davis and Company erected a mercantile store in the 1830s 

facing the public square.
13

  E. W. Berry erected a hotel on the north side of the courthouse square in 

1837.  The first hotel established in 1837 and a subsequent one in 1841 were log buildings, as were 

the townôs other early buildings.  The cityôs first brick building, built in 1842 on the southeast corner 

of North Main and West Gay Streets, housed a general store.  

 

The courthouse served as the initial community focus.  Not only was it the physical seat of justice and 

the countyôs administrative headquarters, the grounds hosted political speeches, patriotic celebrations, 

public lynchings, and sale of property including slave auctions.  Prior to the official development of a 

public school, children received instruction in the courtroom.
14

   

 

By 1850, the townôs population was 241.
15

  In 1854, Benjamin F. and Agnes Houx, Mary Depp, and 

Daniel Rentch each filed plats for new additions to the original town plat.  Subsequent additions 

began when N. B. Holden platted two additions that encompassed the property between North and 

South Streets and between Holden and Warren Streets.  By virtue of its size, the Missouri Legislature 

incorporated Warrensburg as a town on November 23, 1855, ordering the first municipal election to 

be held the following spring.  

 

From its founding, Warrensburg evolved into a central service and trade center sustained by a broad 

economic base.  One of the earliest sources of revenue was the business generated by wagon trains 

that passed through the community and camped at several locations.  One campground was on West 

Pine Street west of Warrenôs smithy and one was near John Evansô store.   

 

Initially, the areaôs economy was based on self-sustaining farms that traded their produce and 

purchased goods and services at a local level.  However, the marketing and shipping of the 

agricultural produce of the area to markets outside the region soon became a dominant part of the 

economy, with agricultural processing and shipping forming a second tier of services.  By mid-

century, the town boasted a flour mill, a carding machine, a foundry, and a woolen mill.  Several 

hotels clustered around the square and north along Main Street did a thriving business, as did 

numerous saloons.  General merchandise stores, harness makers, and meat markets provided goods 

and services while lawyers and land assayers provided services typical of county seats.  The townôs 

fi rst newspaper editor posted the handwritten Gem in store windows.  In 1857, the Western 

Missourian joined the Gem in providing local, state and national news to the village.  Joining the 

                                                           
13

 The Davis store built at the corner of Main and Gay Streets dates to 1869 and is the last commercial building 

associated with the Old Courthouse Square.  Originally two stories the upper floor was removed in the early 

1900s.  
14

  Lisa Irle, Images of America Warrensburg Missouri (Chicago: Arcadia Publishing, 2002) 13.  
15

 194 Caucasian and 47 African Americans.   
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streetscape of the county seat were churches and modest one-story houses.  In 1858, a branch of the 

Bank of St. Louis opened.  

 

Houses of worship were an important part of the community and the number of church buildings kept 

pace with population growth.  The Methodists in Warrensburg organized a church around 1840 and 

erected a building in 1853.  The group aligned with the Methodist Episcopal Church South.  The First 

Baptist Church, organized in 1850, initially met in the Masonic Hall.  The Presbyterian Church 

organized in 1851. 

 

Early Settlers 

 

In understanding the historical built environment that evolved in Warrensburg, Missouri, it is 

important to understand the historical and cultural background that shaped the settlers who populated 

Johnson County during its initial settlement period.  The fact that they emigrated from the southern 

Border States does not fully reflect their cultural history nor the traits and institutions they brought to 

Western Missouri.  Coming from the states of Virginia, North Carolina, Kentucky, and Tennessee, 

these first families comprised the ñpragmatic avaricious and pugnaciousò Scotch-Irish cultural 

group.
16

  Their ancestors were ñlowland Scots.ò  Neither Scottish nor Irish, they were a group of 

Danes, Angles, and Saxons that occupied the Scottish lowland and Scottish-English border area in 

northern neck of the British Island where they endured generations of ceaseless conflict between the 

highland Celts and the English.  This conflict discouraged the development of any literature, art, 

science, technology, crafts, or agricultural skills, but did produce a race of formidable guerrilla 

fighters and a feudal governmental structure based upon loyalty and obedience to strong partisan 

leaders.
17

  Through the Protestant Reformation, and its system of church schools established by the 

followers of John Knox the lowland Scots did become one of the most literate people in Northern 

Europe.
18

 

 

These characteristics prompted the English government to move the lowland Scots to large farms in 

Northern Ireland where they were to control the growing problem presented by the Roman Catholic 

native Irish.  The Ulster Irish, as the lowland Scots became known, displaced the native Irish in a 

period of guerrilla wars quite similar to that which their descendents waged on the Missouri-Kansas 

border almost two hundred years later.  However, as the Ulster Irish grew in military and economic 

power in Ireland, they began to pose a threat to the English government.  By the early decades of the 

eighteenth century, religious persecution of the Presbyterian Church by the Church of England and a 

series of punitive taxes reduced the Ulster Irish to a status no better than the Irish they had 

                                                           
16

  Bil Gil bert, Westering Man: The Life of Joseph Walker (New York: Athenaeum Press, 1983), 21. 
17

  Ibid. 
18

  Ibid., 17-18; and Kenneth Scott Latourette, The History of Christianity, Volume 2 (New York: Harper & 

Row, 1939), 771, 985. 
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displaced.
19

  At the same time, colonial leaders in North America viewed the Ulster Irish as an ideal 

disposable people and encouraged their emigration to and settlement in wilderness areas.  By 1720, 

thousands of Scotch-Irish, as they became known in America, migrated through the Colonial ports 

and, after centuries of exploitation and persecution, immediately departed for the wilderness where 

they quelled native tribes, cleared lands, built roads, and established settlements that paved the way 

for larger landowners and investors to follow.  Bringing few traditions from Europe and having little 

exposure to the culture of the American Colonies, the Scotch-Irish ñwasted little effort trying to 

recreate European villages, schools, gardens, farms, trades, diets, fashions or social customs.ò
20

  Nor 

did their migratory experience in the United States produce a material culture.  Continuously 

occupying the westward moving Euro-American settlement line, they adopted and adapted the skills 

and crafts of the cultural groups they encountered.  In comparison with other emigrant groups such as 

the Germans who brought their architecture and cultural and religious traditions, the Scotch-Irish ñleft 

very few overt, material signs of themselves.  There are no Scotch-Irish communities
21

 as there are for 

the German, Catholic Irish, African-Americans, Welsh and English who came into the region.  Nor 

are there styles of dress, speech, music, architecture or art that can be specifically attributed to the 

Scotch-Irish.
22

   

 

The group did, however, develop authoritarian patriarchal social units that proved to be an advantage 

in the wilderness. During extended settlement periods, they married and produced large families, 

established interwoven familial ties, and developed political and military alliances by virtue of 

various Indian wars.  By the time the Scotch-Irish settlers of Johnson County formed the first county 

government, they were already related by intermarriage and enjoyed military and political alliances 

developed during their stay in Appalachia and migration into Kentucky and Tennessee.
23

  The nature 

of these settlers remained unaltered during the ensuing settlement period in Johnson County.  The 

Scotch-Irish, who continued to emigrate from the southern Border States, became the largest and 

most politically powerful group in Western Missouri.  With the establishment of the county as the 

primary governmental institution, the Scotch-Irish clans of Western Missouri ran their communities 

according to the principles of cronyism that was, by the twentieth century, something of a political art 

form.
24

 

 

Approximately ten percent of Johnson Countyôs population in the mid-nineteenth century was 

German-born settlers.  Between 1830 and 1850, large numbers of Germans immigrated to the lower 

Missouri River Valley.  Attracted by the frontier location; accessibility to the region via New Orleans 

and the Mississippi and Missouri river systems; the low cost of land; and its similarity of soil, 

                                                           
19

  Gilbert, 18. 
20

  Ibid., 22. 
21

  Ibid., 23. 
22

  Ibid. 
23

  Ibid., 18. 
24

  Ibid., 18, 39. 
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climate, and vegetation to their homeland, the Germans came to the area and became successful 

farmers, tradesmen, and merchants who maintained strong ties to their churches, clubs, and European 

traditions.  

 

The distribution and density of slave population in Missouri followed closely the distribution and 

density of the white population.  The main immigration route to Western Missouri was along the 

Missouri River and it was in the counties bordering the river that the slave population was 

concentrated, particularly in the counties of Mid-Missouri.  Between 1840 and 1860, the slave 

population ranged from 10 to 30 percent in Western Missouri.  Unlike the plantation economy of 

Mid-Missouri spawned by tobacco and hemp crops where slaves constituted a higher percentage of 

the population, slaves brought to Johnson County engaged in general agricultural labor and also 

worked as domestic servants, often in close proximity with their owners.  

 

Missouri Pacific Railroad Route Through Missouri, 1856.  

 

During the last half of the nineteenth century, the railroad revolutionized America, expanding 

settlement, trade, commerce, and communication networks. In Missouri, railroad construction 

captured the interest of public leaders as early as the 1840s.  It was not, however, until the 1850s that 

economic growth made financing of rail lines feasible.  At that time, supporters of a transcontinental 

railroad system influenced the Missouri General Assembly to fund a state program of railroad 

construction.  The effort to provide continuous railroad service between St. Louis and Kansas City 

began in 1859 when representatives of the Missouri Pacific Railroad began negotiations with 

communities between St. Louis and Kansas City to issue bonds to finance construction of railroad 

tracks.  Difficulty in selling bonds coupled with waste and corruption slowed construction, and it was 

not until immediately after the Civil War that construction sped up.  Between 1865 and 1870, various 

companies added 2,000 miles of track across Missouri.
25

  

 

The first railroad construction in Missouri began in 1851 with construction of the Pacific Railroadôs 

tracks leading westward from St. Louis in the Missouri Valley transportation corridor.  However, 

because of better financing and generous land grants, the Hannibal and St. Louis Railroad, completed 

in 1859, was the first to traverse the state.  It was not until 1865 that the Missouri Pacific Railroad 

reached Kansas City.  

 

Warrensburg benefited from these efforts and the location of a depot for the Missouri Pacific line 

assured economic growth.  However, the area around the county courthouse experienced a decline 

triggered by the announced route of the Missouri Pacific Railroad in the mid-1850s.  Because Old 

Town was on a hill and lacked a suitable grade for siting the depot, the townôs businesses shifted to 

the southwest to the vicinity of the proposed rail tracks.  In 1856, the townôs first mill located one-
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half mile southwest of Old Town.  Groverôs Depot Addition near the proposed depot location quickly 

became known as New Town.
26

  Groverôs Depot Addition soon incorporated Holdenôs Additions, 

both of which were divided by the center of Holden Street.  During this period, several residences 

appeared on Gay Street in these additions. 

 

BORDER AND CIVIL WARS 

 

Missouri's important role in the Civil War is often overlooked, particularly the era of the border 

conflict, which was a central factor in the start of the war.  Moreover, in the first year of the war, 

conflict in the western theater was significant.  In 1861, of the 157 engagements and battles listed in 

the Army Register, 66 were in Missouri, 31 in Virginia, 28 in West Virginia, 13 in Kentucky, and the 

other 19 occurred in seven other states. 

 

The hostilities had their roots in a routine request in 1818 by the territorial representatives to 

Congress to draft a constitution prior to its admission of Missouri as a state.  The issue of the 

introduction of slavery into the territory caused a national crisis and resulted in the ñMissouri 

Compromise,ò which allowed slavery in Missouri but prohibited the practice in the Louisiana 

Territory north of Missouriôs southern boundary; Missouri joined the Union on August 10, 1821.  

 

Over thirty years later, ignoring the terms of the Missouri Compromise, Congress voted to allow 

Kansans to decide the issue of slavery.  Western Missouri slaveholders who owned half of the stateôs 

slave population ï some 50,000 slaves worth an estimated $25 million ï saw in the new law an 

opportunity to extend slavery into the new territory.
27

  Already dissatisfied with the ineffectiveness of 

the Fugitive Slave Law, Missouri slave owners believed that a free Kansas would provide an easily 

assessable haven for runaway slaves.  Even as Congress debated the legislation, Missouriôs border 

residents moved onto the land in the Kansas Territory still legally owned by Native Americans, 

staked their claims, organized into groups to guard their new lands, and returned to their homesteads 

in Missouri. 

 

Soon immigrant aid societies from the Northeast, many sponsored by abolitionist groups, sent 

sufficient numbers of settlers into the newly opened territory to pose the threat of electing a free-state 

territorial government.  Moreover, the mass migration of antislavery settlers to Kansas Territory 

created alarm among Missourians for the safety and security of their ñpropertyò in Kansas.  Southern 

partisans organized into groups and promoted the establishment of proslavery settlements. 

 

In the first territorial election, bands of Missouri residents crossed into the new Kansas Territory and 

cast fraudulent votes.  A series of hotly contested territorial elections and legislative assemblies 
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 The plat was filed October 16, 1859. 
27

 McCandless, 270. Missouri at this time contained approximately one hundred thousand slaves worth about 

$35 million.  
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ensued.  Antagonism soon flared into open battle.  Guerrilla bands formed on both sides of the 

Missouri-Kansas border, engaging in intimidation and destruction and attacking proslavery and ñfree-

soilò settlements.  Beginning in 1855, and continuing until the end of the Civil War, the conflict 

devastated whole areas of the state, particularly along the borders of Western Missouri. 

 

Predominately comprised of Protestant agrarian slaveholders, the majority of the rural population of 

Johnson County remained ñsouthernò in its orientation but many remained loyal to the Union.  By the 

mid-1850s, the question of the extension of slavery into the Kansas Territory accentuated the growing 

division between this established rural lifestyle and new ñnorthernò economic influences in rapidly 

growing trade centers along the rivers of western Missouri and in the free-state communities of 

eastern Kansas. 

 

As early as 1856, with the capture of pro-slavery forces by John Brown after the Pottawatomie 

Massacre home guard troops from Jackson, Johnson, Clay, Platte, Ray, Saline, and Carrol Counties 

mustered out to join Missourian Jo Shelby.  ñFrom this point on, the bushy hills of Johnson County 

were a refuge from federal and civil authorities among relatives and friends of irregular troops -- 

guerrilla bands -- antagonistic to Kansas free state and free soil adherents.ò
28

    

 

By the time of Lincolnôs election in 1860, atrocities perpetuated by the Kansas ñJayhawkersò and 

Missouri ñBushwhackersò captured the attention of the nation.  Newspapers coined the term 

ñBleeding Kansasò and the strife along the border of Kansas and Missouri became a contributing 

factor to the Civil War.  With the firing on Fort Sumter in April 1861, the federal government focused 

its attention not only on the warfare between partisan settlers on the western frontier but also on 

retaining control of Missouri.  

 

The stateôs strategic location on the Missouri and Mississippi Rivers was essential to maintaining 

communication with the West and use of the rivers for transporting men and supplies in the western 

theater of the war.  For the most part, the battles in Missouri centered on control of the river, the 

recruiting operations on the part of the Confederate army, and the response to hit-and-run tactics of 

the pro-southern guerrillas.  Whether attached to regular southern army units or to irregular troops, 

the men in Johnson County engaged in skirmishes by either defending home territory or riding out 

into the area along the Missouri River and along the state line to join organized battles.  

 

In 1860, the population of Warrensburg was 982. 
29

  The next year supporters of both the Union and 

the Confederacy organized militias in Warrensburg.  One company drilled on the west side of town, 
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 Jay Monaghan, Civil War on the Western Border, 1854-1865 (Lincoln: University of Nebraska Press, 1955), 

64, 280.  The Missouri guerilla group would eventually grow to include George Todd, Bill Anderson, Frank 

James, William Gregg and the Younger brothers, the cream of the Border Ruffians of Missouri under the 

leadership of William Quantril.  
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the other on the east.  Reportedly, for convenience, the members of the two would sometimes drill 

together.  The courthouse served as a federal garrison and, at different times, troops of both sides 

occupied the building.  In 1862, federal troops seized Bolton House and used the facility as district 

headquarters.
30

  At this time, Union troops and Kansas volunteer units controlled most of Missouri.  

From that period on, the conflict in Western Missouri degenerated into a struggle between groups of 

southern sympathizers known as ñBorder Ruffiansò or ñBushwhackers,ò and Union sympathizers, 

called ñRedlegsò and ñJay Hawkers.ò  Historians would later characterize the plundering, burning, 

and killing of this period as one of  ñ. . . the most savage and bitter phases of the entire Civil War.ò
31

 
 

Despite the presence of Union troops, including the Missouri State Militia, during the Civil War, 

economic and civic activity in Johnson County came to a standstill.  Southern partisan irregular 

troops, bent on intimidation of the local populace, questioned the loyalty of the civilians in the area.  

They robbed stage coaches and whole neighborhoods, and burned farms and towns in the region.  The 

most vicious of the bushwhackers killed, mutilated and even scalped those who could not prove their 

loyalty to the southern cause.  Partisan bands routinely tore down telegraph wire.    
 

 

The attack of a federal patrol in Johnson County is typical of the situation in Johnson County during 

the war. Southern partisan fighters under the leadership of Bloody Bill Anderson and Dick Yeager 

encountered a federal patrol under Lt. Parman on open prairie in Johnson County, and killed all but 

Parman and two others.  After the incident, pursuing Union troops discovered that Anderson's and 

Yeagerôs gangs previously attacked a stage coach in the vicinity, ransacked the mail, robbed 

passengers and murdered twelve of the male passengers.   
 

The war ended in Missouri with the Battle of Westport on October 23, 1864 in present-day Kansas 

City, Missouri where Union forces decisively defeated the Confederate army and forced their retreat 

out of the state.  

 

RECOVERY 1865-1880 

 

In an interview with William Lowe written by W. C. Kapp and printed in the Warrensburg Star-

Journal on May 5, 1916, Lowe recounted that at the end of the war only one daily passenger train, 

which included six to eight cars  of  merchandise, went through Warrensburg.  The railroad brought 

express and wire services as well.  A daily stage line for passengers connected with Lexington, 

Clinton, and Kansas City.  Lowe estimated a population of about 1,000 people, a third of which were 

African Americans.  He remembered only a few businesses including a harness shop and a dry goods 

store. 
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  Irle, 11. 
31

 Albert Castel, ñOrder No. 11 and the Civil War on the Border,ò Missouri Historical Review, vol. LVII, (July, 

1963) 368.  
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Old Town and New Town created a divided community.  No sidewalks connected the two.  Where 

there were no developed lots, dense brush encroached upon the roadbeds.  The dirt streets were not 

graded.  The courthouse dominated the Old Town and, in addition to several businesses, the post 

office and offices of lawyers continued to remain near the old courthouse.  

 

New Town 

 

Generally bounded by the railroad tracks on the south, Gay Street on the north, Holden Street on the 

east, and Old Town on the west, the New Town area began at the foot of Holden Street at the wooden 

Missouri Pacific depot.  The new commercial area near the depot featured a string of one-story wood 

warehouses along West Pine Street, several business houses, two little buildings on Holden Street, a 

number of saloons and grog houses, and several churches.  In 1865, the Warrensburg Brewery began 

operations.  Lowe noted that there wasnôt a brick house in New Town or a bank until the fall of 1866.  

There were five or six houses east of Holden Street and no buildings south of the railroad tracks 

except for a small frame hotel.  A country road ran up a steep hill to South Street and then ran 

southeast across what would become the grounds of the Normal School, to Maguire Street, which was 

then the main road to Clinton, Missouri.  Holden Street stopped at North Street.  To travel north from 

 
 

Bird's Eye View of the City of Warrensburg, Johnson Co., Missouri 1869. Drawn by A. Ruger 

Courtesy of the Library of Congress.  Ruger Map Collection, No. 142.  
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that point, ñ. . . you had to go to Old Town and take the Old Lexington Road.  If you wanted to go 

south, you had to cross the railroad tracks at the depot.ò
32

  

 

Two fires, one in 1866 and another in 1873, stimulated the construction of business buildings in stone 

or brick.  Between 1866 and 1880, investment groups established four banks, two of which failed.  

Contributing to the fledgling post-war economy was a woolen mill established in 1867 that produced 

500 pounds of wool a day.  The same year the Eureka grain mill opened.  It would ship an average 

railroad car load of 125 barrels of flour daily.  The Radford House, a hotel erected south of the 

railroad depot in 1865, was among the earliest post-war buildings.  Many of the new buildings were 

of frame construction.  In 1868, G.W. Colbern established a community cemetery.
33

  In 1869, the 

Warrensburg Grain Elevator and Mill opened.  

 

By 1870, the cityôs population included 2,447 whites and 498 blacks.
34

  In 1875, the County Court 

moved to New Town where the town citizens erected a barrack-like frame building on the present 

courthouse square for use until more permanent facilities could be built.  In 1876, a listing of 

businesses included a wide array of occupations, professions and services, including a gardener, a 

horticulturist, and farmers; a plasterer; marble cutters and engravers; newspaper publishers and 

editors; butchers and meat markets, attorneys, physicians, druggists, and a dentist; dry goods and 

hardware merchants; a hotel keeper and a saloon owner and a brewer; millers and grain merchants; 

machinists; a railroad agent; a hotel clerk; a livery, feed and exchange business; county government 

employees;  a boot and shoemaker; a bank cashier; a postmaster; and a pension agent. In 1878, public 

use of the original courthouse in Old Town ended and the Johnson County Court sold the building to 

the German Evangelical Church.  

 

Railroad Mark et Center 

 

When the Civil War began, the railroad was 30 miles from Warrensburg.  Construction continued 

intermittently and on July 4, 1864, the railroad reached Warrensburg.  The town remained the 

railroadôs western terminus for another year.  Because poor roads and ferries provided difficult and 

limited access to market centers where farmers and livestock breeders could sell their agricultural 

products, the railroad assured Warrensburgôs survival as an inland market center.  Johnson Countyôs 

well-watered soil and a climate suitable to sustain nurseries, vineyards, orchards, grain crops, and 

stock farms, and Warrensburgôs location on the main Missouri Pacific line and its connecting spur 

lines, the town quickly became the major center of commerce in the region. 
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 Ewing Cockrell, History of Johnson County, Missouri. (Cleveland: Historical Publishing Company, 1918.) 

206-207. 
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 Colbern donated the property to the city in 1880. 
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 Cockrell, 221. 
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The rapid construction of 

railroads increased the 

value of land for 

agriculture use and led to 

rapid growth in farm 

population.  The produce 

of the surrounding 

countryside stimulated 

processing operations.  

Among the first were 

milling operations that 

replaced the small 

neighborhood gristmills 

located near streams.  

With steam powered 

engines, large operations 

such as the Eureka Mills 

and, later the Magnolia 

Mills established in 1879, sold their flour throughout the region and in St. Louis. The iron foundry 

established in 1874 shipped 250,000 pounds of iron a year.  

 

In 1870, Jacob Pickel and his two brothers introduced steam-powered channel cutting of stone at a 

sandstone quarry two miles north of Warrensburgôs commercial center.  The railroad built a switch 

from the depot yards to transport rail cars between the main track and the quarry.  The next year, 

William Bruce and Company leased land adjacent to the Pickels and opened quarries that they 

operated until 1881 when the owner sold the land to the Pickel brothers.  Bruce opened a third quarry 

nearby in the same year.  The finely grained calcareious sandstone was a light bluish gray color in the 

upper part of the quarry and took on a deeper blue tint as the depth increased in the mines.  Within 

eight feet of the bottom, the color changed to white.  Throughout the late nineteenth and early 

twentieth centuries, the mines shipped boxcars full of quarried stone throughout the United States.  At 

one time, the Pickel quarries furnished stone for public buildings in St. Louis and Kansas City 

shipping 1,500 rail cars annually.  

 

College Town 

 

In 1871, the Missouri Legislature established a state normal school for the second district of Missouri 

in Warrensburg
35

 on high ground several blocks south of the railroad depot.  Construction began in 
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  The State Normal School, District #2 changed to Central Missouri State Teachers College in 1919, and then 

to Central Missouri State College in 1946.  In 1965, the institution established a graduate school. In 1971 the 

 
 

Late 19th Century Railroad Map. Johnson County, Missouri. 
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1872 and, a decade later, the campus featured a large, stone and brick building capable of 

accommodating 500 students.  Between its establishment in 1871 and 1881, enrollment climbed from 

87 to 500 students.  The institution consisted of students ranging in age from 16 to 20.  Freshmen and 

sophomore students received an education equivalent to todayôs 11th and 12th grade high school 

students, while junior and senior college studentsô curriculum matched the current instructional level 

freshmen and sophomore college students. 

 

Selmo Park, now the college president's residence and university reception center, was originally the 

mansion and grounds built in 1866 by Edmond A. Nickerson, an attorney.  Nickerson bought a 

wooded 20-acre tract approximately a half mile south of the then business portion of town and located 

his Italianate style residence near the center of the property.  Five years later, the state located the 

Second District Normal School on an adjacent 16-acre tract, promoting growth in that area of town.  

The Reverend James Henry Houx, the pioneer Cumberland Presbyterian minister, obtained the south 

five acres of Nickersonôs land and resided on that parcel.  Ten acres of the original Nickerson tract 

constituted Selmo Park,
36

 which Nickerson named for the former slave to whom Nickerson owed his 

life. 

 

Cultural and Social Growth 

 

Along with the return to business of several newspapers in the post-war period, the community 

directed its attention to education.  The first school erected after the Civil War was Howard School, 

erected in 1866-67 by the Freedmenôs Aid Society, for African American students.  The next year, 

Reese School opened to white students.  In 1870, William Lowe built Foster School for white 

students and the school district completed construction of the cityôs first high school. 

 

 The churches resumed their central role in the community in the post-war period. The Baptist 

Church, first organized in 1850, regrouped after their members dispersed during the war.  In 1881, 

after the merger of several congregations, the Baptists of Warrensburg built a large brick church 

building with a sanctuary that seated up to 300 people.  The Presbyterian Church, organized in 1852, 

met regularly during the war and, in the early 1870s, erected a large brick church on the north side of 

Gay Street, and later, a larger brick building at the corner of east Market and Miller Streets.  The 

Christian Church (Disciples of Christ) organized in 1859, reorganized after the war in 1868.  

Members of the Methodist Episcopal Church, which organized in 1865, supported the Union cause 

during the Civil War.  In 1871, the congregation erected a large brick house of worship that seated 

400 on the north side of East Market Street, between Holden and Miller Streets.  The Roman Catholic 

Church held their first mass in 1866.  The Cumberland Presbyterian Church also organized that year 

and met in the old courthouse; they erected a church building in 1875 at Grover and Miller Streets.  

                                                                                                                                                                                    

name changed again to Central Missouri State University. In 2006, the name changed to the University of 

Central Missouri. 
36

 Selmo Park was listed as a Missouri Historic Site in 1962. 
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The Episcopal Church, Christ Church Parish, organized in 1868, and erected a frame church building 

in 1872.  The Evangelical Association organized in 1869.  In 1872, regular services resumed for the 

Methodist Episcopal Church South.  Of the African American Churches, the Baptist Church 

organized in 1864, and the Methodist Church in 1866, joining the already established African 

Methodist Episcopal Church.
37

 

 

The establishment of the Normal School in 1871 stimulated the growth of music halls, theaters and 

dancing venues.  The Magnolia Opera House and productions at the nearby Pertle Springs resort 

assured a continuous stream of traveling entertainment companies.   

 

While the commercial center of town shifted, new development near Old Town such as Pertle 

Springs, the Normal School (College) and new hotels to accommodate visitors provided employment 

opportunities within walking distance of the Old Town and New Town neighborhoods Among the 

residents of Old Town was a growing enclave of African Americans who worked as domestics, cooks 

and maids at these venues.  

 

LATE NINETEENTH CENTURY EMERGENCE OF THE  

AFRICAN AMERICAN COMMUNITY  

 

During the transitional period from slavery to freedom, many former slave owners gave tracts of land, 

usually 20 acres, to their former slaves.  Blacks also began to purchase land for themselves and real 

estate transfers were a key indicator of changes in social status.  Changing conditions led some black 

families to migrate from one area to another.  Others remained on the land that they owned and 

commuted to work sites in nearby towns.  Many moved from rural settlement areas such as Mt. Olive 

to the Old Town section of Warrensburg, creating a sizable population of African American families.  

As a whole, the background of  these African Americans was rural, with Old Town in Warrensburg 

providing a more urban experience.  

  

The settlement patterns of African American families in the Warrensburg area have three major focal 

points.
38

  Mt. Olive, located 12 miles northeast of Warrensburg in Simpson Township dates to the end 

of the Civil War in 1865.  Many of the earliest settlers of Mt. Olive were former slaves brought into 

the area by their owners, Sarah Simpson and her son, James, in 1832.   

 

The congregation of the Mt. Olive Church, established in 1875, erected a house of worship at the 

intersection of what later became NE 221 Road and NE 950, which also served as the meeting place 

of the informal community of African Americans.  The village eventually grew to include the Mt. 
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 Cockrell, 208-209. 
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 Other towns in the surrounding area with sizable African American populations were Centerview, Mayview 

and Knob Noster.  
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Olive Cemetery, opened in 1900; Foster School and, later, East Lynn School; a series of general 

stores, garages and welding shops; a horse training and race track; a bandstand pavilion; and 

approximately twenty homes.  The community was self-sustaining, and practicing shared work and 

projects.  By the 1950s, the nature of farming, and new opportunities for work for blacks opened up in 

nearby towns, prompted members of this community to find jobs elsewhere.  As the rural population 

declined, the church became inactive and, with the integration of county schools in the late 1950s, the 

businesses in Mt. Olive began to close.  Today, the Mt. Olive Cemetery is the only landmark of the 

settlement.  

 

Montserrat, located five miles east of Warrensburg, in Montserrat Township, and Old Town 

Warrensburg, located at the western edge of Warrensburg in Warrensburg Township, both had sizable 

African American populations.  Montserrat was not as 

clearly defined as an African American community as Mt. 

Olive, but had a large African American population that at 

one time composed 50-percent of the population.  The town 

was originally a coal mining community platted in 1870 by 

John A. Gallagher.  Soon, other industries such as 

lumbering and brick and tile manufacturing developed. 

These industries, as well as farming and livestock 

operations, created a variety of jobs that attracted workers 

to the area.  Eventually, business houses that developed 

around the town square, a post office, and stockyards 

constituted a village that, in 1880, had a population of 

around 225.  

 

Just after the end of the Civil War, a number of the African American families lived in the Cave 

Hollow area west of the Old Town Square in temporary winter housing vacated by Union soldiers.  

Old Town itself retained a large population of African Americans at this time.  These families, like 

those of Montserrat, lived in de facto segregation in unofficially designated neighborhoods and 

maintained their own schools and churches.  Many worked at sites within walking distance from their 

homes.  A significant number found positions with the railroad as laborers and porters.  

Warrensburgôs hotels and resorts provided employment for African Americans as cooks and laborers.  

Black women worked as cooks, laundresses and housekeepers throughout the town and at the college.  

 

Two segregated institutions, the church and school, played a vital role in the community life of the 

African Americans of Warrensburg.  Early churches included the Holbert Chapel Christian Methodist 

Episcopal Church (originally the ñMethodist Church (Colored)ò established about 1860); the First 

Baptist Church located on West Culton Street, organized in 1864; the M. E. Church organized in 

1866; the Warren Street Methodist Church established in 1870; the Second Baptist Church organized 

in 1880, which originally met at a former school house on North Main Street; an African M. E. 

 
 

Early Twentieth Century Photograph of 

Students Attending Howard School. 
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1888 Missouri Pacific Depot Building 

Church organized in 1886 that held services in the First Baptist Church building; and the Shiloh 

Baptist Church organized in 1888.   

 

The Howard School on West Culton Street, erected in 1866 with funds from the Freedmenôs Bureau, 

provided the first official educational opportunities for 

African Americans residing in the Warrensburg area.  

General Otis Howard, an officer in the Union army 

during the Civil War, served as administrator of the 

local Freedmenôs Bureau, which financed the 

construction of the building.   The original one-room 

frame building initially provided only elementary level 

instruction.  Classes also met in a building formerly 

used as a Baptist Church.  Until 1883, the school year 

was seven months.  By 1898, a three-year high school 

course drew students from the rural countryside.  By 

1904, the school provided a full four-year high school 

program.  

 

The Howard School Building is the second oldest remaining school in the United States established 

under the Freedman's Bureau.  The building, the second on the site, dates from the 1880s.  The first 

principal of the school was the Reverend Henry Smith, a graduate of Oberlin College in Ohio, who 

held both academic and theological degrees.  He later became the President of the Lincoln Institute 

(Lincoln University) in Jefferson City, Missouri. 

 

Initially the school was under the ownership of the 

American Missionaries.  In 1870, ownership transferred to 

the Warrensburg School District and maintained a first 

through twelfth grade school program until 1948 when the 

Howard School closed, and the District bused African 

American students to the Hubbard School in Sedalia, 

Missouri.  After the Supreme Court decision that abolished 

racial segregation in schools, the Warrensburg school 

district integrated its schools in 1955 and used the Howard 

School building as a kindergarten facility.  The school 

district later sold the building to a church. 
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